RECEIVED

Mar 05 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Jasper County

Honorable Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

BENJAMIN WALTER DUBOIS III,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-001307

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Senior Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the circuit court err by failing to properly weigh the factors surrounding the almost six-year delay between arrest and trial and then refusing to grant the motion to dismiss as a violation of Appellant's state and federal constitutional right to a speedy trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In May of 2018, the Jasper County Grand Jury indicted Appellant, Benjamin Walter Dubois, III, for murder, indictment #2017-GS-27-00582. (R. p. 1185-1186). On October 31, 2019, Appellant appeared before the Honorable Ferrell Cothran, Jr. for a pre-trial hearing. (R. pp. 1-8). Carolyn Carmody represented Appellant. Patrick Hall represented the State. On July 13, 2023, Appellant appeared before the Honorable Robert Bonds for a pre-trial hearing. (R. pp. 9-137). Carolyn Carmody represented Appellant. Reed Evans represented the State. On July 31, 2023, Appellant proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Carmen T. Mullen. Carolyn Carmody again represented Appellant and Reed Evan again represented the State. The jury found Appellant guilty of murder and pursuant to S.C. Code §17-25-45 Judge Mullen sentenced Appellant to life without parole. (R. p. 1168). A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on August 14, 2023. This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The remedy for a speedy trial violation is dismissal of the charges. Langford, 400 S.C. at 442, 735 S.E.2d at 482 (internal citation omitted). The trial court's ruling on a motion for speedy trial is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. Id. at 442, 735 S.E.2d at 482 (internal citation omitted). An abuse of discretion occurs when the court's decision is based on an error of law or upon factual findings that are without evidentiary support. Id. at 442, 735 S.E.2d at 482 (internal citation omitted). State v. Hunsberger, 418 S.C. 335, 342, 794 S.E.2d 368, 371–72 (2016).

ARGUMENT

The circuit court erred by failing to properly weigh the factors surrounding the almost six-year delay between arrest and trial and then refusing to grant the motion to dismiss as a violation of Appellant's state and federal constitutional right to a speedy trial.

In the early morning hours of June 22, 2017, Jerry Holmes was found stabbed to death in his cell at Ridgeland Correctional Institution. (R. p. 13, line 3 – p. 14, lines 1-10). At the time of the death both Appellant and Holmes were serving sentences in the Ridgeland Correctional Institution. Tyreece Griffin, the corrections officer who was in charge of the wing when Holmes was stabbed was charged with misconduct in office and obstruction of justice for being absent without just cause and providing false information during the course of the investigation of the death of Holmes. (R. pp. 22-27; R. pp. 797-802). A video showed the officer walking out of the prison during his shift, leaving the wing unsupervised for several hours. (R. p. 51, line 8 – p. 52, lines 1-6). As the prosecutor characterized it, “And, essentially, left the unit as the sole guard and left the prison to run itself.” (R. p. 14, lines 1-3).

At the time of Holmes' death at least ten of the individual cell doors on the wing were not locked. (R. p. 13, line 20 – p. 14, lines 1-3; p. 30, lines 11-22; R. p. 844, lines 1-23). On the night of the death numerous inmates were seen out of their cells. (R. p. 31, lines 1-8). One of the agents from the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division [SLED] who assisted with the investigation of the case was asked why weapons found in the common bathroom on the wing of the prison were not collected. (R. p. 393, lines 1-7). The agent answered, “There were so many weapons recovered in this case, it was hard to determine – we didn't deem that they were applicable. None of them had any suspected blood staining, and they were just found in the shower.” (R. p. 393, lines 8-12).

Appellant was arrested and charged with murder on August 15, 2017. (R. p. 119, lines 17-23). Two other inmates were also charged in connection to the death. (R. p. 48, line 22 – p. 49, 50, lines 1-4). Appellant’s trial took place almost six years later on July 31, 2023. Appellant’s federal and state constitutional speedy trial rights were violated requiring dismissal of the indictment.

On September 13, 2017, Appellant filed a letter with the Jasper County Clerk of Court asking for a public defender, requesting Rule 5 and Brady material, and noting, “I want to file for a fast and speedy trial. Because of this pending charge I now have to remain in security detention (Isolation) until this is resolved.” (R. p. 1189). Appellant was indicted on May 31, 2018.

On September 13, 2019, Appellant filed another letter with the Jasper County Clerk of Court. (R. p. 1191). In the letter Appellant wrote:

I filed for a fast and speedy trial 2 years ago and haven’t received a word about it! I’ve never met my public defender or received any correspondence back from him. I would like for you to file a motion to dismiss for me please. I sent him a letter to do it but got not no response. I would also like all Rule 5 and Brady material sent to me. I am way past sick and tired of being on lock up for a crime I did not commit and being denied proper legal counsel. There is really no excuse for never meeting my public defender in the whole 2 years he’s been assigned my case. I have serious disabilities and feel like I’m being discriminated against because I have these disabilities and your waiting for my cancer/ seizures to kill me before I have a chance at court. Please get this dismissed for me. As far as I know there is nothing fast and speedy about waiting over 2 years for trial after properly filing for a fast and speedy trial. It’s supposed to be within 6 months or it gets dismissed. Thank you for your help and time.

(R. p. 1191).

On October 31, 2019, over two years after arrest, a hearing was held before the Honorable Ferrell Cothran, Jr. During the hearing the assistant solicitor representing the State told the judge, “He [Appellant] had sent a letter to the Clerk of Court, which I believe you have a

copy of that letter. In that letter he's talking about making a speedy trial demand, about how he has not met his public defender, about how he has not received his discovery." (R. p. 3, lines 8-13). The assistant solicitor was concerned about Appellant filing *pro se* motions. (R. p. 3, lines 17-22). The public defender representing Appellant at the hearing had only been with the Public Defender Office for a little over a month. (R. p. 4, lines 16-18). The clerk advised that the prior attorney appointed to represent Appellant was Bob Hughes. The assistant solicitor told the judge, "Well, Madam Clerk is informing me that Mr. Hughes was his only prior attorney, which causes me some concern because Mr. Hughes hasn't done work in general sessions in quite some time. And we have had two other public defenders in place since that time that were doing Mr. Hughes' cases." (R. p. 5, line 23 – p. 6, lines 1-4).

The Appellant told the judge, "I wrote him a million times, never got one letter back. Never got to meet him or nothing. I couldn't even walk when they charged me. I went through cancer surgery. I couldn't even walk to get my food from the cafeteria. I wanted to get this done because I'm supposed to go home in two years, and I want to get this done. I have wrote him a lot of letters." (R. p. 6, lines 5-12). Judge Cothran ordered the State to provide full discovery to counsel within 30 days and asked when the State planned to call the case for trial. (R. p. 6, lines 13-18). The assistant told the judge they planned to try the case in the first six months of 2020. Judge Cothran said, "Okay. If it hasn't been, then they can make a motion in front of whatever judge is here, you know, for a speedy trial, and they can go back under Judge Newman's cases and see what kind of relief they can get. Okay?" (R. p. 6, line 23 – p. 7, lines 1-2)¹.

¹ Presumably Judge Cothran's reference to "Judge Newman's cases" is a reference to State v. Hunsberger, 418 S.C. 335, 794 S.E.2d 368 (2016).

The case was not called for trial until October/November of 2022. At that time, however, defense counsel had to move for a continuance because she was sick. (R. p. 123, lines 9-18). The case was then scheduled for trial in December of 2022. The State, however, moved for a continuance to analyze phones that the State had been aware of since the beginning of the investigation. (R. p. 123, line 19 – p. 124, lines 1-11).

On December 1, 2022, Appellant completed his sentence on the underlying charge and was transferred to the Jasper County Detention Center. (See Order Denying Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss for Alleged Speedy trial Violation, R. p. 1201). It appears that the case had to be continued a third time because the detention center failed to provide prescription medications Appellant needed, and was apparently given in the Department of Corrections, to maintain competency. (See Order Denying Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss for Alleged Speedy trial Violation, R. p. 1201).

On May 16, 2023, Appellant filed² a notice of motion to dismiss based on the speedy trial violation. (R. p. 1192, Notice of Motion to Dismiss- Speedy Trial; See Order Denying Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss for Alleged Speedy trial Violation). On July 13, 2023, a hearing was held before the Honorable Robert Bonds on Appellant’s motion to dismiss based on the speedy trial violation. (R. pp. 9-137). Judge Bonds denied the motion to dismiss and asked the State to prepare an order. (R. p. 136, lines 12-15). The judge noted that the motion to dismiss was filed in May of 2023, and stated, “May of ’23. And, of course, that is two months ago, a month ago. And so I do hear you that, basically – you know, I don’t understand why this motion wasn’t filed a year ago, or two years ago, or 18 months ago, and, now that does resonate with me. And I think you were making a reference to that, Mr. Evans.” (R. p. 135, lines 2-8). The

² The notice is dated May 12, 2023, but appears to have been filed July 21, 2023.

judge also noted that most of the items listed as missing or destroyed in paragraph five of the notice relating to prejudice would have been missing or destroyed if the case had been tried in 2019. (R. p. 135, lines 9-24; R. p. 1193).

On July 21, 2023, Appellant filed the memorandum in support of the motion to dismiss based on the speedy trial violation. (R. pp. 1194). The written order denying the motion was filed on July 27, 2023. The written order correctly found that the nearly six-year delay was sufficient to trigger the speedy trial analysis. (R. p. 1204). The order, however, failed to properly weigh the factors surrounding the almost six-year delay. The judge erred in failing to properly weigh the factors and dismiss based on the speedy trial violation.

The trial started on July 31, 2023. The State made the trial judge aware of Judge Bonds' ruling denying the motion to dismiss based on the speedy trial violation. (R. p. 143, line 13 – p. 144, lines 1-13). Appellant renewed the motion to dismiss at the close of the State's case. (R. pp. 997 – 1003). The trial judge denied the motion. (R. p. 1012, line 15 – p. 1013, 1014, lines 1-21). The trial judge noted the lockdown, turnover in both the Solicitor's office and the Public Defender office and found that the three continuances were all necessary. (R. p. 1012, line 15 – p. 1013, lines 1-21). The judge stated, "So with that said I do not think, again, that the time of trial is contrary or unreasonable in this case, given all those things, which might even be called." (R. p. 1014, lines 18-21). The trial judge failed to acknowledge that the almost six-year delay was sufficient to trigger the speedy trial analysis. The trial judge failed to properly weigh the factors surrounding the almost six-year delay. The trial judge erred in refusing to dismiss based on the speedy trial violation.

In State v. Langford, 400 S.C. 421, 440, 735 S.E.2d 471, 481 (2012) the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides, in part, “In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy ... trial.” U.S. Const. amend. VI. Similarly, the South Carolina Constitution guarantees that “[a]ny person charged with an offense shall enjoy the right to a speedy ... trial.” S.C. Const. art. I, § 14. The main goals of this right are to prevent undue pretrial incarceration, minimize the anxiety stemming from public accusation of a crime, and limit the possibility of long delays impairing an accused's defense. State v. Waites, 270 S.C. 104, 107, 240 S.E.2d 651, 653 (1978).

Appellant’s constitutional rights to a speedy trial guaranteed by both the United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution were violated in the present case.

In State v. Hunsberger, 418 S.C. 335, 342–43, 794 S.E.2d 368, 372 (2016), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

An accused's speedy trial right begins when he is “indicted, arrested, or otherwise officially accused.” Langford, 400 S.C. at 442, 735 S.E.2d at 482 (citing United States v. MacDonald, 456 U.S. 1, 6, 102 S.Ct. 1497, 71 L.Ed.2d 696 (1982)). To trigger a speedy trial analysis, the accused must allege that the interval between accusation and trial has crossed the threshold dividing ordinary from “presumptively prejudicial” delay, since, by definition, he cannot complain that the government has denied him a “speedy” trial if it has, in fact, prosecuted his case with customary promptness. Doggett v. U.S., 505 U.S. 647, 652, 112 S.Ct. 2686, 120 L.Ed.2d 520 (1992). Presumptively prejudicial delay exists when an accused is not prosecuted with ordinary promptness. See Doggett, 505 U.S. at 651–52, 112 S.Ct. 2686 (1992). Once the accused has met this initial burden, a court must look to four factors, among the totality of the circumstances, to decide whether the defendant's right to a speedy trial has been denied. Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514, 530–31, 92 S.Ct. 2182, 33 L.Ed.2d 101 (1972); see also Langford, 400 S.C. at 441, 735 S.E.2d at 482. These factors are: (1) length of delay; (2) the reason for the delay; (3) the accused's assertion of his right to a speedy trial; and (4) whether the delay prejudiced the accused. Barker at 531–32, 92 S.Ct. 2182. A speedy trial claim must be “analyzed in terms of the circumstances of each case, balancing the conduct of the prosecution and the defense.” State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 549, 647 S.E.2d 144, 155 (2008) (citing Barker, 407 U.S. at 530, 92 S.Ct. 2182).

The State agreed that the almost six-year delay triggered the speedy trial analysis stating, “Going through the Barker v. Wingo factors, I agree with Miss Carmody that the length of delay is sufficient to trigger the rest of the analysis.” (R. p. 128, lines 13-16). The written order

correctly found that the nearly six-year delay was sufficient to trigger the speedy trial analysis. (R. p. 1204). Both judges, however, erred by failing to properly weigh the factors surrounding the almost six-year delay and dismiss the charge based on the speedy trial violation.

In Langford, 400 S.C. 421, 441-442, 735 S.E.2d 471, 482 (2012) the Court wrote:

The Supreme Court has counseled further that none of these factors [Barker factors] is “either a necessary or sufficient condition to the finding of a deprivation of the right of speedy trial.” Barker, 407 U.S. at 533, 92 S.Ct. 2182. Instead, they are all related and must be considered along “with such other circumstances as may be relevant.” Id. Thus, the Supreme Court created a balancing test which is a rejection of “inflexible approaches” and weighs “the conduct of both the prosecution and the defense.” Id. at 529–30, 92 S.Ct. 2182. If a court concludes that this right has been violated, dismissal of the charges “is the only possible remedy.” Id. at 522, 92 S.Ct. 2182.

Viewing the four Barker v. Wingo factors in terms of the circumstances of this case and balancing the conduct of the prosecution and the defense, Appellant’s constitutional rights to a speedy trial were violated. As in Hunsberger, because the timeline is essential to determining that Petitioner’s speedy trial rights were violated, important dates are outlined below:

- August 15, 2017 – arrest
- September 13, 2017 – letter to clerk of court
- May 31, 2018 – indictment
- September 13, 2019 – letter to clerk of court
- October 31, 2019 – hearing before Judge Cothran
- October 2022 – defense motion for continuance – defense counsel illness
- November 2022 – prosecution motion for continuance – evidence not analyzed
- December 2022 – Appellant completed sentence on underlying charge
- January 2023 – continuance - failure to receive medications
- April 2023 – bond denied

- May 2023 – notice of motion to dismiss based on speedy trial violation
- July 13, 2023 – hearing on motion to dismiss
- July 31, 2023 - trial

1. Length of Delay

As to the first Barker factor, length of delay, as discussed above, the written order correctly finds that the nearly six-year delay was sufficient to trigger the speedy trial analysis. The written order, however, does not assign responsibility for the length of the delay. In Hunsberger, the South Carolina Supreme Court determined that the full ten-year delay between arrest and trial was not wholly attributable to the State. In the present case, for over two years, from the time of Appellant’s arrest in August of 2017, until October 31, 2019, when a hearing was finally held before Judge Cothran, the State made no attempt to call this case for trial. During this over two-year time frame Appellant was without the assistance of counsel, despite Appellant’s request for representation in his letter to the Jasper County Clerk of Court filed September 13, 2017, and numerous attempts to contact the public defender. (R. p. 1189; October 31, 2019, R. p. 6, lines 5-12). In a letter to Appellant from the Jasper County Clerk of Court dated September 18, 2017, a clerk stated that a copy of Appellant’s letter was given to the Public Defender’s Office and the Solicitor’s Office. (R. p. 1190). Appellant was indicted on May 31, 2018. The over two-year delay when the State made no attempt to call the case for trial is wholly attributable to the State.

The next three-year time frame from the hearing before Judge Cothran on October 31, 2019, to when defense counsel moved for a continuance because she was sick in October of 2022, can not be wholly attributable to the State because part of that time involved lockdown due

to the COVID-19 pandemic. Some of this three-year time frame though, perhaps half - eighteen months, must be attributed to the State. None of this time frame should be attributed to Appellant. The month-long delay from October 2022 to November 2022, due to defense counsel's illness, should not be attributed to either the State or Appellant. The eight-month time frame from November 2022, until the time of trial on July 31, 2023, is wholly attributable to the State. The State is responsible for an over four-year delay in calling the case for trial. The four-year delay should be weighed heavily against the State.

When the motion was renewed at trial the trial judge also failed to assign responsibility for the length of the delay, instead finding that the delay was reasonable. (R. p. 1014, lines 18-21). The trial judge erred. The delay was not reasonable. Appellant was not responsible for the delay. Both judges erred in failing to assign responsibility to the State for four years of the almost six-year delay and weighing that factor heavily against the State.

2. Reasons for Delay

As to the second Barker factor, reasons for delay, in State v. Hunsberger, 418 S.C. 335, 346, 794 S.E.2d 368, 374 (2016), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

The State's justifications for delay in trying a defendant are weighted differently: (1) a deliberate attempt to delay trial as a means to hamper the defense weighs heavily against the State; (2) negligence or overcrowded dockets weigh less heavily against the State, but are ultimately its responsibility; (3) a valid reason, such as a missing witness, justifies an appropriate delay; and (4) delays occasioned by the accused weigh against him. Langford, 400 S.C. at 443, 735 S.E.2d at 483 (internal citation omitted). Ultimately, justifying the delay between charge and trial is the responsibility of the State. Langford, 400 S.C. at 443, 735 S.E.2d at 483 (internal citation omitted).

In the written order denying the motion to dismiss for a speedy trial violation the judge wrote, "The State argued that the significant General Sessions backlog in Jasper County, while

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