RECEIVED

Mar 05 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Jasper County

The Honorable Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent,

v.

BENJAMIN WALTER DUBOIS, III,

Appellant.

Appellant Case No. 2023-001307

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

KAYLEE C. KEMP
Assistant Attorney General

Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6307

ISAAC MCDUFFIE STONE, III
Fourteenth Circuit Solicitor's Office
Post Office Box 1880

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

ARGUMENT

The circuit court properly reviewed and balanced the circumstances contributing to the delay of Appellant’s trial, finding that the delay was not wholly attributable to the State, nor was the delay intentional or negligent, and that Appellant could not demonstrate prejudice, and thereby properly denied Appellant’s motion to dismiss pursuant to a violation of his speedy trial rights.

Appellant contends that the trial judge erred by failing to properly weigh the factors related to the six-year delay of Appellant’s trial.

Pursuant to both the United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution, an accused in a criminal prosecution has a constitutionally guaranteed right to a speedy trial. *See* U.S. Const. amend. VI; S.C. Const. art. I, § 14. That right is designed to limit undue pre-trial incarceration, to protect against anxiety stemming from public accusation of a crime, and-most seriously-to limit the possibility of a lengthy pre-trial delay impairing an accused’s defense. *Barker v. Wingo*, 407 U.S. 514, 532 (1972); *see State v. Langford*, 400 S.C. 421,440, 735 S.E.2d 4 71, 481 (2012) (“The main goals of this right are to prevent undue pretrial incarceration, minimize the anxiety stemming from public accusation of a crime, and limit the possibility of long delays impairing an accused's defense.”); *State v. Pittman*, 373 S.C. 527, 550, 647 S.E.2d 144, 155-156 (2007).

In order to trigger a speedy trial analysis, a defendant’s trial must have been delayed for a period of time that is presumptively prejudicial, which necessarily depends on the particular circumstances of each case. *Langford*, 400 S.C. at 442, 735 S.E.2d at 442. Notably, “a simple prosecution for ordinary street crime may have a lower threshold for a presumptively prejudicial delay than a more complex conspiracy case.” *Langford*, 400 S.C. at 442–443, 735 S.E.2d at 482 (“holding a twenty-three month delay was presumptively prejudicial”) (internal citation omitted);

See *State v. Cooper*, 386 S.C. 210, 687 S.E.2d 62 (Ct. App. 2009) (“reaching the *Barker* factors when there was a forty-four month delay”); *State v. Waites*, 270 S.C. 104, 240 S.E.2d 651 (1978) (“holding a twenty-eight month delay triggered speedy trial analysis”).

However, even where a delay that is presumptively prejudicial exists, a speedy trial determination “is not based on the passage of a specific period of time” and delay alone is not singularly dispositive. *Pittman*, 373 S.C. at 549, 647 S.E.2d at 155 (emphasis added); see *State v. Brazell*, 325 S.C. 65, 75, 480 S.E.2d 64, 70 (1997) (recognizing “delay alone is not dispositive”).

Ultimately, once a speedy trial analysis has been triggered, the question of whether a defendant’s right to a speedy trial has been violated is necessarily dependent on the specific circumstances of the defendant’s particular case. *State v. Robinson*, 335 S.C. 620, 625, 518 S.E.2d 269, 272 (Ct. App. 1999). A court analyzing a speedy trial claim should consider: “(1) the length of the delay; (2) the reason for the delay; (3) the defendant’s assertion of his right; and (4) whether any prejudice was suffered by the defendant as a result of the delay.” *Barker*, 407 U.S. at 530.

Length of Delay

“An accused’s speedy trial right begins when he is ‘indicted, arrested, or otherwise officially accused.’” *State v. Hunsberger*, 418 S.C. 335, 343, 794 S.E.2d 368, 372 (2016); *Langford*, 400 S.C. at 442, 735 S.E.2d at 482 (citing *United States v. MacDonald*, 456 U.S. 1, 6, 102 S.Ct. 1497, 71 L.Ed.2d 696 (1982)). Appellant was arrested on August 15, 2017, while still incarcerated for his previous criminal conviction.

On September 13, 2017, Appellant filed a letter with the Jasper County Clerk of Court asking for a public defender, requesting Rule 5 and *Brady* material, and noting, “I want to file for a fast and speedy trial. Because of this pending charge I now have to remain in security detention

(Isolation) until this is resolved.” (September 13, 2017, letter, R. p. 1189). Appellant was indicted on May 31, 2018. (*See* Indictment, R. p. 1185). On September 13, 2019, Appellant filed another letter with the Jasper County Clerk of Court. (September 13, 2019, letter, R. p. 1191). A hearing was convened on October 31, 2019, to address Appellant’s filing of *pro se* motions while he was represented and to ensure that Appellant met with his new attorney, Ms. Carmody. (October 31, 2019, R. p. 4).

On July 13, 2023, a hearing was convened pursuant to Appellant’s, through his counsel, speedy trial motion. The Court heard argument from both parties on the motion. At its conclusion, the court denied the speedy trial motion and instructed the State to write an order. Appellant’s case was called to trial on July 31, 2023.

“To trigger a speedy trial analysis, the accused must allege that the interval between accusation and trial has crossed the threshold dividing ordinary from ‘presumptively prejudicial’ delay, since, by definition, he cannot complain that the government has denied him a ‘speedy’ trial if it has, in fact, prosecuted his case with customary promptness.” *Doggett v. U.S.*, 505 U.S. 647, 652, 112 S.Ct. 2686, 120 L.Ed.2d 520 (1992). “Presumptively prejudicial delay exists when an accused is not prosecuted with ordinary promptness.” *See Doggett*, 505 U.S. at 651–52, 112 S.Ct. 2686 (1992).

Based on the length of time between Appellant’s arrest and the speedy trial motion hearing, a review of the remainder of the speedy trial factors is warranted. “Once the accused has met this initial burden, a court must look to four factors, among the totality of the circumstances, to decide whether the defendant's right to a speedy trial has been denied.” *Barker v. Wingo*, 407 U.S. 514, 530–31, 92 S.Ct. 2182, 33 L.Ed.2d 101 (1972); *see also Langford*, 400 S.C. at 441, 735 S.E.2d at 482.

Nevertheless, analysis of the remainder of the factors demonstrates Appellant's right to a speedy trial was not violated by the delay.

Reason for Delay

“In order to establish the denial of a speedy trial, it must be demonstrated the delay was attributable to the State.” *State v. Waites*, 270 S.C. 104, 108, 240 S.E.2d 651, 653 (1978) citing *State v. Dukes*, 256 S.C. 218, 182 S.E.2d 286 (1971). “The constitutional guarantee of a speedy trial is protection only against delay which is arbitrary or unreasonable.” *Id.* citing *People v. Hairston*, 46 Ill.2d 348, 263 N.E.2d 840 (1970).

Appellant alleges that the hearing judge and the trial judge failed to assign responsibility to the State for four years of the almost six-year delay and erred in not weighing that factor heavily against the State. Appellant contends that the State offered no valid reason for the two-year delay between Appellant's arrest in August of 2017, until October 31, 2019, when a hearing was finally held before Judge Cothran. However, the record indicates that the State had shared discovery with Appellant's former counsel, whom Appellant contends he was unable to contact, and due to the turnover in both offices, Appellant's case was inevitably delayed. In determining the period of delay attributable to the State, Judge Bonds wrote,

The State argued that the significant General Sessions backlog in Jasper County, while regrettable, was a legitimate contributing factor to the delay in bringing this case to trial. The State further noted that it had previously informed Judge Cothran of its hope to try the case in the first six months of 2020, but was deterred by the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic.

(Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Dismiss, R. p. 1204). Deliberate efforts to delay trial to injure the defense's case should be weighed heavily against the State, however, neutral reasons are not weighted as such.

Appellant's case was then called to trial in October of 2022, however due to defense counsel's illness, the case was continued to November of 2022. There is no evidence to suggest the State was not prepared to move forward with Appellant's trial at this time, and that had defense counsel been well, the case would have moved forward. There is no evidence of intentional delay as to the first continuance.

The State moved to continue Appellant's November 2022 trial date. In the written order denying the motion to dismiss for a speedy trial violation Judge Bonds described the events as follows:

Prior to the November term, the State invited Counsel for Defense to join a meeting with SLED and SCDC personnel to view the various pieces of physical evidence, in person in Columbia. During this visit, SCDC pulled out a bag containing cell phones which had been seized from prisoners in the aftermath of Holmes' death. While the phones were packaged together, making identification of which phone came from which inmate impossible, the bag had written on it "possible video of incident" or words to that effect. The State had been aware of the existence of the phones, but not the note or potential video evidence. Concerned for the possibility of exculpatory evidence going undetected, the State moved before Judge Mullen to continue the case just prior to the Thanksgiving holiday, in a hearing held over Webex. The Defendant did not oppose the State's motion.

(Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Dismiss, R. pp. 1202-1203). Appellant argues that Judge Bonds, as well as the trial judge, Judge Mullen, erred by failing to assign responsibility for the length of the delay, instead finding that the delay was reasonable. However, a finding of responsibility on behalf of the State does not overcome a determination that the delay was otherwise reasonable.

Appellant's case had to be continued a third time because the detention center failed to refill prescription medications Appellant needed, and was apparently given in the Department of Corrections, to maintain competency. (*See* Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Dismiss for

Alleged Speedy Trial Violation, R. p. 1203). Again, responsibility for the delay is not attributable to the State, much less does it support a finding that the State was neglectful in prosecuting Appellant.

Upon determining whether a speedy trial violation has occurred, the circuit court is tasked with balancing the conduct of the prosecution and the defense and must analyze the factors in terms of the circumstances of each case. The circuit court's determination that Appellant's delayed trial is not in violation of his speedy trial rights is reasonably supported based on the circumstances surrounding the delay.

Accused's Assertion of the Right to a Speedy Trial

“Whether a defendant previously asserted the right to a speedy trial is not alone dispositive of whether he is entitled to relief.” *Hunsberger*, 418 S.C. at 349, 794 S.E.2d at 375. *See Barker*, 407 U.S. at 533, 92 S.Ct. 2182 (holding none of the four factors are either necessary or sufficient to find a denial of the right to a speedy trial). “Accordingly, ‘the defendant’s failure to assert the right, although not conclusive, makes it more difficult to show that the right was violated.’” *State v. Barnes* 431 S.C. 88, 846 S.E.2d 400 (Ct. App. 2020) *aff’d as modified*, 436 S.C. 202, 871 S.E.2d 421 (2022) citing *State v. Reaves*, 414 S.C 118, 130, 777 S.E.2d 213, 219 (S.C. 2015) (quoting *Pittman*, 373 S.C. at 550, 647 S.E.2d at 155). “This consideration prevents a criminal defendant from strategically acquiescing in a delay [that] works to his advantage, then asking the case be dismissed at the last moment once it is called for trial.” *Id.*

In denying the motion to dismiss, Judge Bonds noted that a hearing was conducted before Judge Cothran on October 31, 2019, in which the State indicated the intent to try the case within the first six months of 2020. At that time, Judge Cothran ordered the State to provide full discovery to counsel within 30 days. (October 31, 2019, R. p. 6). Judge Cothran noted that if

Appellant's case was not called at that time, Appellant could make a speedy trial motion. Due to the pandemic, Appellant's case did not move forward, to which he presented no formal motion to dismiss on account of a speedy trial.

Appellant's case was called to trial in November of 2022. The case was continued due to defense counsel's illness. Appellant's case was again scheduled for trial in December of 2022. The State then moved for a continuance on account of discovering potential exculpatory evidence. Again, no formal motion to dismiss on account of a speedy trial violation was made.

Appellant's case was scheduled for trial one month later in December of 2022. Appellant's case had to be continued a third time because the detention center failed to refill prescription medications Appellant needed, and was apparently given in the Department of Corrections, to maintain competency. (*See Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Dismiss for Alleged Speedy Trial Violation*, R. p. 1203). Such a delay is not attributable to the State.

In his order, Judge Bonds further noted Appellant was satisfied with the previous trial dates in November of 2022, December of 2022, and January of 2023, noting that a speedy trial complaint was not made at the time of the numerous delays.

On May 16, 2023, Appellant filed a notice of motion to dismiss based on the speedy trial violation. A hearing was held on the speedy trial motion on July 13, 2023, and Appellant filed the memorandum in support of the motion to dismiss based on the speedy trial violation on July 21, 2023. At the hearing, Judge Bonds expressed concern as to why the motion was not filed "a year ago, or two years ago, or 18 months ago." (July 13, 2023, R. p. 135). Judge Bonds also noted that most of the items listed as missing or destroyed in paragraph five of the notice relating to prejudice would have been missing or destroyed if the case had been tried in 2019. (July 13,

2023, R. p. 135). The written order denying the motion was filed on July 27, 2023. Appellant’s case was called to trial days later on July 21, 2023.

Appellant argues that Judge Bonds erred in refusing to consider the *pro se* assertion of the right to a speedy trial when Appellant was “effectively deprived representation.” (Initial Brief of Appellant at 16). However, the *pro se* letters simply express the desire for his case to be tried quickly, rather than the formal filing of a motion to dismiss for a violation of his speedy trial rights. Appellant did not file a speedy trial motion after Judge Cothran made note that a speedy trial motion could be warranted if his case did not move forward in 2020, nor did Appellant file the motion until after the third continuance of his trial in 2023. *See Waites*, 270 S.C. at 109, 240 S.E.2d at 653 (“We think it significant that Waites, represented by counsel, waited approximately twenty-eight months before claiming he had been denied his constitutional right to a speedy trial.”). After filing a formal motion to dismiss, a hearing was convened, the motion was denied, and Appellant’s case was called to trial days later. *See Robinson*, 335 S.C. at 626, 518 S.E.2d at 272 (“indicating the fact that Robinson was tried within one year of his first formal motion to dismiss contributed to the finding that his speedy trial rights were not violated”).

Judge Bonds properly considered *when Appellant asserted that his speedy trial had been violated*, rather than when he demanded that he receive a speedy trial.

Prejudice

“The final factor—prejudice to the defendant—requires a reviewing court to analyze the three different types of prejudice the speedy trial right seeks to prevent: (1) oppressive pretrial incarceration; (2) anxiety and concern of the accused; and (3) the possibility the defense will be impaired.” *Barnes* 431 S.C. at 88, 846 S.E.2d 400 quoting *Reaves*, 414 S.C. at 131, 777 S.E.2d at 219. “Of these, the most serious is the last, because the inability of a defendant adequately to

prepare his case skews the fairness of the entire system.” *Barnes* 431 S.C. at 88, 846 S.E.2d 400; 17-, 400 S.C. at 445, 735 S.E.2d at 484 (quoting *Barker*, 407 U.S. at 532, 92 S.Ct. 2182); but *see Loud Hawk*, 474 U.S. at 312, 106 S.Ct. 648 (“[T]he Speedy Trial Clause’s core concern is impairment of liberty”).

“[A]n accused can assert actual prejudice or presumptive prejudice as the result of the State's violation of his right to a speedy trial.” *Hunsberger*, 418 S.C. at 351, 794 S.E.2d at 376.

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